# **ORIGINAL**

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SEJ. WHITE

SEP 18 1997

CLERK QUALINO

Chief Deputy Clark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v8.

**CASE NO.** 91,105

JAMES R. HOOTMAN,

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or between February 17 and 18, 1996, eighty-nine year old Deuward Tune was murdered through the infliction of blunt trauma. The record shows that Mr. Tune was а client respondent/defendant James R. Hootman at Bankers Life. Mr. Tune was convinced in the days preceding his death that Hootman was stealing from him. Mr. Tune made this allegation to numerous friends and to Hootman's home office in Chicago. Hootman arranged for a meeting with Mr. Tune the day before his death. It was postponed, but took place the next day when Mr. Tune was murdered. The victim's dismembered body was discovered on the residential property of Hootman. (Exhibit F, pg. 25) On February 28, 1996, Hootman was indicted for the first degree premeditated murder of Deuward Tune. (Attached, as Exhibit A)

Hootman filed a motion to prohibit application of section 921.141(5)(m), Florida Statutes to his case on March 13, 1997.

(Attached, as Exhibit B) The motion was granted per the trial court's order entered on April 25, 1997. (Attached, as Exhibit C)

On May 15, 1997 the state filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Second District Court of Appeals seeking reversal of the circuit court's order granting Hootman's motion to prohibit application of section 921.141(5)(m), Florida Statutes, Alternatively, the state requested the District Court to certify

this issue to this Court as one of great public importance. On July 25, 1997, the District Court issued a Certification of Order Requiring Immediate Resolution by the Florida Supreme Court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court below erred in granting Hootman's motion to prohibit application of section 921.141(5)(m), Florida Statutes and holding the application of the "advanced age" aggravating factor to Hootman's case would be a violation of the ex post facto clauses of both the United States and Florida Constitutions. In the case sub judice, the trial court held that the application of the aggravating factor of advanced age to Hootman's case would be a violation of the ex post facto clause. While the possibility that the addition of this single aggravating factor may result in Hootman receiving the death penalty when he might not have otherwise might suggest an ex post facto violation, an analysis of the relevant case law does not support such a finding.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING HOOTMAN'S MOTION TO PROHIBIT APPLICATION OF SECTION 921.141(5)(M), FLORIDA STATUTES AND HOLDING THE APPLICATION OF THE "ADVANCED AGE" AGGRAVATING FACTOR TO HOOTMAN'S CASE WOULD BE A VIOLATION OF THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSES OF BOTH THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS.

The court below erred in granting Hootman's motion to prohibit application of section 921.141(5) (m), Florida Statutes and holding the application of the "advanced age" aggravating factor to Hootman's case would be a violation of the expost facto clauses of both the United States and Florida Constitutions. In the case sub judice, the trial court held that the application of the aggravating factor of advanced age to Hootman's case would be a violation of the ex post facto clause. While the possibility that the addition of this single aggravating factor may result in Hootman receiving the death penalty when he might not have otherwise might suggest an ex post facto violation, an analysis of the relevant case law does not support such a finding.

From the inception of this state's current death penalty law, the United States Supreme Court has held that the retrospective application of a state statute which altered trial-level sentencing procedure did not violate the Federal Constitution's prohibition against state enactment of **ex post facto** laws. In <u>Dobbert v.</u>

Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 97 S.Ct. 2290, 53 L.Ed.2d 344 (1977), the Court rejected Dobbert's ex post *facto* challenge, although Dobbert was prosecuted under the post <u>Furman</u> statute which was not in effect at the time he committed the murders for which he was convicted.

The Court held that the changes in the law were procedural, and on the whole ameliorative, and that there was no ex post facto violation. While noting that 'Article I, § 10, of the United States Constitution prohibits a State from passing any 'ex post facto law, '" the Court held that "(t) he inhibition upon the passage of ex post facto laws does not give a criminal a right to be tried, in all respects, by the law in force when the crime charged was committed." Gibson v. Mississippi, 162 U.S. 565, 590, 16 S.Ct. 904, 910, 40 L.Ed. 1075 (1896). "Even though it may work to the disadvantage of a defendant, a procedural change is not ex post facto." The Dobbert Court further noted that in Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574, 4 S.Ct. 202, 28 L.Ed. 262 (1884), as of the date of the alleged homicide a convicted felon could not have been called as a witness. Subsequent to that date, but prior to the trial of the case, this law was changed; a convicted felon was called to the stand and testified, implicating Hopt in the crime charged against him. Even though this change in the law obviously had a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Furman Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1971)

detrimental impact upon the defendant, the Court found that the law was not ex post facto because it neither made criminal a theretofore innocent act, nor aggravated a crime previously committed, nor provided greater punishment, nor changed the proof necessary to convict.

In the instant case, as in Dobbert, the change in the statute was clearly procedural. The new statute simply altered the methods employed in determining whether the death penalty was to be imposed; there was no change in the quantum of punishment attached to the crime. Quoting, Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574, 4 S.Ct. 202, 28 L.Ed. 262 (1884), the Dobbert Court stated; "The crime for which the present defendant was indicted, the punishment prescribed therefor, and the quantity or the degree of proof necessary to establish his guilt, all remained unaffected by the subsequent statute."

The United States Supreme Court has recently revisited its expost facto jurisprudence in California Dept. of Corrections v.

Morales, 514 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 131 L.Ed.2d 588, 115 S.Ct. 1597 (1995) and held that: 'After Collins the focus of the expost facto inquiry is not on whether a legislative change produces some ambiguous sort of 'disadvantage' . . . but on whether any such change alters the definition of criminal conduct or increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable," Morales, 115 S.Ct. at 1608, n 3 (1995)

### (emphasis added).2

The legislature's amendment to FS 921.141(5) neither altered the definition of the crime of first degree murder nor increased the penalty by which the crime is punishable. First degree murder was punishable by death both before and after the 1996 Amendment. Accordingly, even if Florida's recent legislative change added an additional aggravating factor into the sentencing analysis, thereby producing some ambiguous sort of 'disadvantage' to Mr. Hootman, the ex post facto clause would not be violated because it did not increase the penalty by which first degree murder is punishable.<sup>3</sup>

Consistent with this analysis, this Court has repeatedly rejected arguments that the application of newly-enacted or new case law interpretations of aggravating factors to persons who prior thereto had committed their offenses was an ex post facto violation. See, e.g., Combs v. State, 403 So.2d 418, 421 (Fla.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In <u>Collins v. Youngblood</u>, 497 U.S. 37, 111 L.Ed.2d 30 (1990), the Supreme Court had overruled two prior precedents which the Court felt had extended ex <u>post</u> facto protection unjustifiably to any situation which altered the situation of a party to his disadvantage. The <u>Collins</u> Court had previously determined that a Texas statute which allowed reformation of improper verdicts did not punish as a crime an act previously committed which was innocent when done, did not make more burdensome the punishment for a crime after its commission, did not deprive one charged with crime of any defense according to law at the time when the act was committed was not prohibited by the ex post facto clause.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A review of the facts as set forth at the motion hearing shows the existence of several other aggravating factors including but not limited to; pecuniary gain, CCP, and avoid arrest.

cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1988) (application of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 946, 112 S.Ct. 390, 116 L.Ed.2d 340 (1991) (CCP); Sireci v. State, 587 So.2d 450, 454 (Fla.), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 882, 108 S.Ct. 39, 98 L.Ed.2d 170 (1987) 1991) (CCP); Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455, 461, n. 7 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 951 (1993) (CCP); see also Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 47 (Fla.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 986, 112 S.Ct. 597, 116 L.Ed.2d 621 (1991) (victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties); Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685, 693 (Fla.), vacated on other grounds, 505 U.S. 1215, 112 S.Ct. 3020, 120 L.Ed.2d 892 (1992) (use of "on parole" to support under sentence of imprisonment aggravator).

Recently, in <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 690 **So.2d** 1234 (Fla. 1996),

Petition for Certiorari Filed, (July 2, 1997), 4 this Court again
reviewed the ex post facto argument and held:

Trotter claims that the trial court's use of community control as an aggravating circumstance constitutes an ex post facto violation because his crime and initial sentencing took place before the above

Trotter also implicitly rejects the trial court's concerns regarding a violation of the Florida Constitution. See, Trotter State, Anstead, Justice, dissenting. See, also Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85, n 7 (Fla. 1994); Windom v. State, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla.), cert. denied. \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 116 S.Ct. 571, 133 L.Ed.2d 495 (1995),.

amendment was enacted. We disagree and find no violation, just as we have found no violation in every other case where an aggravating circumstance was applied retroactively--even on resentencing. e.g., Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127, 130 (Fla.1991) (no ex post facto violation in applying "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance retroactively on resentencing where Zeigler committed the crime and was originally sentenced before the circumstance was enacted); Hitchcock v. 578 So.2d 685, 693 (Fla.1990) (no ex post facto violation in applying "sentence of imprisonment" aggravator retroactively on resentencing where Hitchcock committed the crime and was originally sentenced before this Court held that parole is embraced within the circumstance). See also Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85, 92 (Fla.1994) (no ex post facto violation in applying "victim was a law officer" enforcement aggravator retroactively).

Custodial restraint has served in aggravation in Florida since the "sentence of imprisonment" circumstance was created, and enactment of community control simply extended traditional custody to include "custody in the community." See § 948.001, Fla. Stat. (1985). use of community control as an aggravating circumstance thus constitutes a refinement in the "sentence of imprisonment" factor, not a substantive change in Florida's death penalty law.

Trotter (emphasis added)

The circuit court, in the instant case, found the <u>Combs-Valle</u> line of cases distinguishable because the new aggravating factors at issue in those cases were not entirely new but a part of what had been the law. It is the state's position that, like the new aggravating factors at issue in the <u>Combs-Valle</u> line of cases, the

addition of age as an aggravating factor is also simply a refinement of the law. Age and vulnerability of the victim has always been relevant and admissible to establish aggravating factors regarding the heinous or premeditated nature of the crime.

For example, in <u>Johnston v. Singletarv</u>, 640 So.2d 1102 (Fla.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1195, 115 S.Ct. 1262, 131 L.Ed.2d 141 (1994), this Court in considering the harmlessness of an improper instruction, stated:

The trial court cites to the testimony of a medical examiner to support its finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. The medical examiner testified that the victim, an 84-year-old woman who had retired to bed for the evening, was strangled and stabbed three times completely though [sic] the neck and twice in the upper chest. The medical examiner's testimony also revealed that it took the helpless victim three to five minutes to die after the knife wound severed the jugular vein. The court also mentioned, correctly, that the victim was in terror and considerable experienced pain during murderous attack. The heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance was properly applied in this instance.

\* \* \*

Even if the issue were not procedurally barred, "we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the erroneous instruction would not have affected the jury's recommendation or the trial court's sentence." The jury would have found Johnston's brutal stabbing and strangulation of the eighty-four-year-old victim, who undoubtedly suffered great terror and pain before she died, heinous, atrocious, or cruel, even with the limiting instruction.

Johnston v. Singletary, 640 So.2d at

1103-1105 (citations omitted). See, also, Bottoson v. State, 674
So.2d 621 (Fla.) cert. denied. U.S. , 117 S.Ct. 393, 136
L.Ed.2d 309 (1996) (murder was especially heinous because of the kidnapping, long confinement and mode of killing of the 74 year old victim); Washington v. State, 653 So.2d 362 (Fla.), cert. denied, U.S. , 116 S.Ct. 387, 133 L.Ed.2d 309 (1994) (jury override upheld where victim was 93-year-old woman found murdered in her bedroom, having been badly beaten, vaginally and anally raped, and she suffered seventeen rib fractures); Trotter v. State, 576 So.2d
691 (Fla. 1990), reversed on other grounds, appeal after remand, 690 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1996) (murder heinous, atrocious, or cruel where seventy-year-old victim was stabbed at least seven times, one wound resulting in disembowelment); Muchleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310 (Fla.), cert. denied, 108 S.Ct. 39, 484 U.S. 882, 98 L.Ed.2d 170 (1987) (strangled and suffocated ninety-seven year old man).

Finally, the trial court also, found that Hootman would be further disadvantaged because the addition of the age factor would subject him to the admission of victim impact evidence. First, as previously noted, the ex post facto clause is not violated simply because a new law produces 'some ambiguous sort of disadvantage,' such as having the jury hear the victim's age. Furthermore, even without the addition of this factor, victim impact evidence is always admissible in a penalty phase proceeding, Farina v. State, 680 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1996); Windom v. State, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla.),

cert. denied, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 116 S.Ct. 571, 133 L.Ed.2d 495 (1995);
§ 921.141 (7) Fla. Stat. (1996), and is commonly admitted in the
state's case in chief. \_\_\_\_\_, 16 S.Ct. 1550, 134 L.Ed.2d 637 (Fla.),
cert. denied, \_\_\_\_\_, U.S. \_\_\_, 116 S.Ct. 1550, 134 L.Ed.2d 653 (1996)
(victim seventy-three year old woman); Davis v. State, 648 So.2d
107 (Fla.), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_\_, U.S. \_\_\_, 116 S.Ct. 94, 133 L.Ed.2d
50 (1995) (victim seventy-three year old woman).

In conclusion, the state maintains that as the addition of this factor in no way increases the penalty by which first degree murder is punishable and that age of the victim was relevant prior to the amendment, there is no violation of the ex **post facto** clause of either the Florida or the United States Constitution. Accordingly, the state urges this Court to reverse the ruling of the lower court precluding the state from arguing Mr. Tune's age in aggravation.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court reverse the circuit court's order granting the motion to prohibit application.