OA 12-10-97

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 14 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner, :

vs. :

Case No. 91,105

JAMES R. HOOTMAN, :

Respondent. :

_____ :

REVIEW OF ORDER CERTIFIED AS REQUIRING
IMMEDIATE RESOLUTION BY FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BOB DILLINGER
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ALLYN GIAMBALVO
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 239399

VIOLET ASSAID
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 792918

Public Defender's Office
14255 49th Street North
Clearwater, FL 33762

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent would agree that petitioner's statement of the case and facts is an accurate synopsis of what transpired below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The adding of another death penalty aggravator enlarges the range of cases warranting death as a punishment and thereby the penalty that can be imposed. To apply this aggravator to an offense which transpired prior to its enactment, constitutes an ex post facto violation contrary to the protections of the United States and Florida Constitutions. The amendment here is more than a procedural change. Furthermore, it cannot be said that advanced age is a long established element of the offense of first degree murder nor is it merely the refinement **or** extension of an existing aggravator.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING HOOTMAN'S MOTION TO PROHIBIT APPLICATION OF SECTION 921.141(5) (m), FLORIDA STATUTES AND HOLDING THAT THE APPLICATION OF THE "ADVANCED AGE" AGGRAVATING FACTOR TO HOOTMAN'S CASE WOULD BE A VIOLATION OF THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSES OF BOTH THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS.

Petitioner maintains that the trial court erred in granting respondent Hootman's motion to prohibit application of section 921.141(5) (m), Fla. Stat. as an aggravator.¹ Respondent's motion sought to preclude application of 921.141(m) (5) to his case because its application would violate the ex post facto provisions of both the Florida and Federal constitutions.

The murder with which respondent Hootman was charged was alleged to have taken place on February 17th or 18th of 1996. The statutory aggravator enacted by the 1996 legislature, went into effect on May 30, 1996. Application of the new aggravator would clearly prejudice respondent as it would "attach legal consequences" to a crime committed before the new law took effect. The application of an additional statutory aggravating circumstance would substantially increase the probability that respondent would receive a death sentence, disadvantaging him in a substantive

¹ 921.141(5) (m) Fla.Stat. - The victim of the capital felony was particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability, or because the defendant stood in a position of familial or custodial authority over the victim.

fashion.

Provisions of both the United States and Florida Constitutions² prohibit the state from altering the law and applying it retroactively to prior circumstances. The United States Constitution specifically prohibits the states from passing ex post facto legislation.³ It is axiomatic that penal laws are not to be applied retroactively.

The United States Supreme Court has evoked the ex post facto provisions of the Federal Constitution to forbid not only retroactive application of laws defining or establishing **new** offenses, but also to **modifications in statutory punishment schemes** such as the sentencing guidelines. Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S. Ct. 2446, 96 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1987). The court has also applied the ex post facto provisions to Florida's statutory parole scheme. see Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981).

The Supreme Court of Florida has also applied the constitutional prohibitions against ex post facto laws to situations where a law "**is retrospective in effect**" and "diminishes a substantial substantive right the party would have enjoyed under the law existing at the time of the alleged offense." Dugger v. Williams, 593 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1991). Petitioner maintains that this change in the law is merely procedural, as opposed to

² Article X, section 9 provides:

Repeal or amendment of a criminal statute shall not affect prosecution or punishment for any crime previously committed.

³ Article I, section 10 of the United States Constitution

substantive, therefore there is no ex post facto violation. However, as this court stated in Williams, id.

... it is too simplistic to **say** that an ex post facto violation can occur only with regard to substantive law, not procedural law. Clearly, some procedural matters have substantive effect. Where this is so, an ex post facto violation also is possible, even though the general rule is that the ex post facto provision of the state Constitution does not apply to purely procedural matters.

There is no doubt that the prohibitions against retroactive application of penal statutes is applicable here. The Florida Supreme Court has stated that the statutory aggravators "**actually define those crimes . . . in which the death penalty is applicable.**" State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). Clearly, aggravating circumstances are part and parcel of the substantive law concerning capital offenses. Redefining or revising what constitutes a death penalty offense is a far more significant modification to the existing law than those changes involved in Miller, Weaver and Dugger, id. In essence, the legislature has changed the **proof** necessary to impose a death sentence.

Moreover, it is obvious that advanced age or disability was not a part of the denotation of a death penalty crime at the time this homicide was alleged to have occurred, therefore it cannot be constitutionally applied in respondent's **case**.

Application of 921.141 (5)(m) in this case fulfills both factors defining ex post facto laws. First, the section became effective approximately 3 months after the offense was alleged to have been committed, thus its application would have to be

retrospective. Secondly, introduction of an additional aggravating factor during the penalty phase could potentially influence the jury to recommend death instead of life imprisonment. Furthermore, the introduction of a single aggravator would allow the state to introduce "victim impact" evidence under 921,141 (7) Fla. Stat..

Looking at the issue from another perspective, Florida law requires the existence of at least one aggravating factor before a sentence of death can be imposed. This being the case, respondent could face a death sentence based upon this single aggravator, even though that aggravator did not exist at the time the offense was committed.

Petitioner cites various cases where the Florida Supreme Court found no violations of the ex post facto prohibition, even though the aggravators in question had been enacted after the commission of the offenses. Valle v. State, 581 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1991); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990) and Trotter v. State, 690 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1996). However, all of these cases justified their holdings on the grounds that the "new" aggravators weren't new at all, but merely refinements of an already existing factor or reiterated an element already present in the crime of premeditated or felony murder.

. . . in this case the aggravating factor that the victim was a law enforcement officer who was murdered while performing his official duties is not an entirely new factor, and Valle is not disadvantaged by its application. At the time Valle had committed this crime the legislature had established the aggravating factors of murder to prevent lawful arrest and murder to hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of

laws. Secs. 921.141(5)(e), (g), Fla.Stat. (1977). By proving the elements of these two factors in this case, the state has essentially proven the elements necessary to prove the murder of a law enforcement aggravating factor. Valle, id.

In other words, the same factors could have been found pursuant to the aggravating factors already in existence.

However, 921.141 (5) (m) is neither a refinement of an existing aggravating factor nor a part of the statutory definition of homicide nor a mere procedural change. The age of the victim is an entirely new consideration. Petitioner cites the case of Muehleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 1987) and others, to substantiate its contention that age has always been considered an aggravating factor, In Muehleman, id. the prosecutor in his penalty phase argument to the jury called the victim a "feeble, sickly, 97 year old man." Defense counsel objected to this remark on the grounds it constituted an inflammatory and abusive argument by the prosecutor which improperly influenced the jurors's passions and resulted in prejudice to his case. In rejecting his claim, the Florida Supreme Court held the statements were relevant to establish several aggravating factors including: commission of the murder during the course of a robbery; avoiding lawful arrest; cold, calculated and premeditated; and heinous, atrocious and cruel. However, the fact that the victim's advanced age was a factual circumstance used to establish several long-standing aggravating factors in this particular case, it does not necessarily follow that advanced age has always been an element or an essential part of an existing aggravator or that advanced age in

itself always constitutes an aggravating circumstance.

For example, in Clark v. State, 443 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1983) the defendant killed an elderly woman and attempted to kill her husband. This court held that:

The trial court's fourth aggravating circumstance, **that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel**, on the other hand, is insufficiently supported by the record. The murder of a disabled and defenseless elderly woman is a vile and despicable act. But under the standard set forth in State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S. Ct. 1950, 40 L. Ed. 2d 295 (1974), an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel homicide is one where the actual commission of the capital felony was accompanied by such additional facts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies--the conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

Id. at 9. Directing a pistol shot to the head of the victim does not establish a homicide as especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Kampff v. State, 371 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1979). Although Mr. Satey testified that he heard his wife moan after being shot, there was no evidence of whether she was conscious after being shot, nor did the medical examiner **indicate how long Mrs. Satey** survived or what degree of pain, if **any**, she suffered. Although the helpless anticipation of **impending death may serve as the basis for** this aggravating factor, there is no evidence to prove that Mrs. Satey knew for more than an instant before she was shot what was about to happen to her. Similarly, as pitiable as were Mr. **Satey's** vain efforts to dissuade his attackers from harming his wife, it is the effect upon the victim herself that must be considered in determining the existence of **this aggravating factor. See Riley v. State**, 366 So. 2d at 21.

In all the capital murder cases the undersigned could find, in

addition to those noted by petitioner, where the victim was described as elderly and a death penalty aggravator or aggravators were established, all involved the additional factual circumstances of multiple stabbings, strangulation, severe beating, prolonged and tortuous deaths or a combination thereof. There was no case where the circumstance of advanced age alone constituted the basis for an aggravator. In all these cases, the circumstances of the victim's death would have warranted the finding of an aggravating factor or factors, no matter what the victim's age had been.

By enactment of the additional factor of advanced age, the legislature has enlarged the scope of murders warranting death as a penalty. If the victim is shown to be of advanced age,⁴ then the aggravator is conclusively established. Furthermore, it would necessarily increase respondent's punishment from life imprisonment to death, if it were the only aggravating factor established. The trial court acted correctly in granting respondent Hootman's motion to prohibit application of 921.141(5) (m) Fla. Stat. as an aggravating factor in his case.